**RECORD NO. 21-CV-0894** 

District of Columbia Court of Appeals COREY J. ZINMAN,



Clerk of the Court Received 05/23/2022 09:38 AM

Plaintiff – Appellant,

v.

# THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Defendant – Appellees.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

# **APPELLANT'S INITITAL BRIF**

Corey J. Zinman, Esq. E-Mail: JDZinman1@gmail.com 175 Sedona Way, Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33418 Telephone: (561) 566-9253

**Pro Se Plaintiff** 

#### **STATEMENT PURSUANT TO RULE 28(A)(2)(A)**

The parties in this case are Corey J. Zinman, Esq., the Appellant, and the District of Columbia, the Appellee.

#### **QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

This appeal raises the following questions:

- Did the Superior Court err by granting summary judgement in favor of the district?
- 2. Did the Superior Court err by concluding that MPD officers and the other individuals depicted in the Body Worn Camera ("BWC") footage at issue had cognizable privacy interests in the nondisclosure of such footage?
- 3. Did the Superior Court err by holding that the District was justified in withholding any and all images of and statements made by individuals depicted in the BWC footage at issue?
- 4. Did the Superior Court err by holding that the privacy interests in the redactions of the BWC footage at issue outweigh the public's interest in the full unredacted disclosure of such footage?
- 5. Did the Superior Court err by holding that Zinman's request for declaratory relief was moot?
- 6. Did the Superior Court err by refusing to award Zinman his costs incurred in litigating this matter?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By way of background, Plaintiff, Corey J. Zinman, Esq. ("Zinman") travelled to Washington D.C. on January 18th, 2021. See Appendix B (Complaint; App. 13a-24a) at ¶9 (App. 15a). While lawfully recording upon a public street, Zinman was assaulted. *Id.* at ¶ 10 (App. 15a). Shortly thereafter, several officers from the Metropolitan Police Department (hereinafter referred to as, "MPD") arrived and separated Zinman from his assailants and took statements from all witnesses separately. Id. at ¶ 11 (App. 15a). After taking statements from all witnesses, the responding officers informed Zinman that his assailants alleged that he had pushed a female witness and that's why one of the male witnesses decided to snap Zinman's selfie stick in half and smash his GoPro camera to the ground. See Appendix C (Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgement; App. 25a-59a) at 32a. On that basis, the responding officers concluded that they did not have probable cause to issue a citation or to make an arrest for assault or destruction of property, even though Zinman's hand was gashed open, and both his selfie stick and camera were destroyed as well. Id. The next day, on January 19th, 2021, Zinman traveled to the Second District MPD to present video evidence showing a female shoving a bullhorn into Zinman's chest as well as a male grabbing Zinman's camera. Id. at 33a. Notwithstanding, Zinman was informed that such evidence did not constitute assault because the female was apparently just "standing her ground," and the male apparently intended to grab Zinman's camera and not his person, despite the fact that Zinman's camera was clearly attached to his person. Id.

Suspecting that he had been discriminated against for traveling to Washington D.C. from out of state, on January 22, 2021, Zinman submitted a complaint against with the Office of Police Complaints (hereinafter referred to as, "OPC"). Id. at 34a. Seeking to substantiate his suspicions and to potentially identify his assailants as well, on the same day, Zinman filed a request under the District of Columbia Freedom of Information Act (hereinafter referred to as, "DC FOIA") for the BWC "footage recorded by ... Sergeant Phillip Robinson, Officer Syed Hussain, as well a third unidentified black male officer ... on Tuesday, January 19th, 2021 at approximately 11:00 PM (CCN # 21008200)," in addition to "copies of all surveillance footage from the lobby of the Second District [MPD] recorded between the hours of 3 and 4 PM during [Zinman's] interaction with Sergeant Robinson and Detective J. Ellis on Wednesday, January 20th, 2021." Id. Nevertheless, on February 17, 2021, Zinman received a response from "FOIA Specialist," Ms. Tara Branch, denying his request for the body worn footage in which he sought. *Id.*; see also Appendix E (Letter from Ms. Tara Branch; App. 62a-63a).

Thereafter, on March 10, 2021, Zinman brought this action in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia seeking to compel Defendant, the District of Columbia ("the District"), to release all records requested in Zinman's January 22, 2021 FOIA request (Request Number 2021-BWC-00118)." *See* Appendix C (Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgement; App. 25a-59a) at 32a. Additionally, Zinman sought to recover his costs associated with the filing and litigation of this action pursuant to D.C. Code § 2-537(c). *Id.* Notably, however, during the pendency of that action, MPD eventually released various BWC video clips responsive to Zinman's January 21, 2021, request for records on July 2, 2021, August 9, 2021, and September 3, 2021, albeit heavily redacted video clips. *Id.* at 35a. On that basis, the District filed a Motion for Summary Judgement arguing that Zinman "received all non-exempt information responsive to his D.C. FOIA request," and further that "Plaintiff's claims for violation of the D.C. Freedom of Information Act are moot" *Id.* Nevertheless, Zinman filed his own Motion for Summary Judgment arguing that he's entitled to disclosure of all BWC footage responsive to his request for records as well as an award of his costs incurred in litigating this case. *See* Appendix C (Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgement; App. 25a-59a).

On November 29, 2021, the Honorable Judge Anthony C. Epstein issued an Order, *inter alia*, granting the District's Motion for Summary Judgement and denying Zinman's Motion for Summary Judgement. *See* Appendix A (Order; App. 1a-12a). In doing so, Judge Epstein held that "the record demonstrates that the District properly withheld limited information pursuant to two FOIA exemptions when MPD redacted certain parts of the footage that it provided to Mr. Zinman." *Id.* at 7. Furthermore, according to Judge Epstein, the District "met its burden to establish that the privacy interests in the redactions of the responsive footage outweigh the public interest in the full unredacted disclosure of this footage of a relatively routine encounter between the police and civilians." *Id.* at 11. Moreover, Judge Epstein held that, "[b]ecause the

District complied with its obligations under DC FOIA, Mr. Zinman's request for injunctive relief is moot." *Id.* Thereafter, on December 29, 2021, Zinman filed a Notice of Appeal to this Court seeking review of Judge Epstein's Order.

#### **RULE 28(a)(5) STATEMENT**

This is an appeal from a final order of the Superior Court that disposed of all parties' claims, or information establishing this court's jurisdiction on some other basis.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

As previously noted, Zinman travelled to Washington D.C. on January 18<sup>th</sup>, 2021, and was assaulted while lawfully recording upon a public street. See Appendix C (Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgement; App. 25a-59a) at 32a. In the process of this assault, Zinman's "selfie stick," which was attached to his person and protruding through his jacket, was snapped in half and his GoPro camera which was attached to the end of the selfie stick was smashed to the ground. Id. Additionally, Zinman's hand was sliced open by his broken selfie stick while attempting to defend his property. Id. Shortly thereafter, Officer Syed Hussain, Sergeant Phillip Robinson, as well as a third unidentified male officer arrived and separated Zinman from his assailants and took statements from all witnesses separately. Id. After taking statements from all witnesses, the responding officers informed Zinman that his assailants alleged that he had pushed a female witness and that's why one of the male witnesses decided to snap Zinman's selfie stick in half and smash his GoPro camera

to the ground. Id. On that basis, the responding officers concluded that they did not have probable cause to issue a citation or to make an arrest for assault or destruction of property, even though Zinman's hand was gashed open, and both his selfie stick and camera were destroyed as well. Id. When Zinman attempted to ask the Officers questions regarding their refusal to issue a citation or to make an arrest, Sergeant Robinson became belligerent and stated that "you know what you're your intent was coming down here." Id. When Zinman replied that his intent in travelling to D.C. was to do "independent journalism," Sergeant Robinson scoffed and stated that "you can do independent journalism, but once somebody says leave or wear a mask, you should at least practice social distance" Id. Additionally, when Zinman stated that his assailants were free to "stand 6 feet back," Sergeant Robinson responded by stating that the public street that he was standing upon (Black Lives Matter Boulevard) belonged to those who had assaulted him because they had apparently been using that area to protest for some time and further that his assailants were justified in shoving a bullhorn into his chest to prevent him from entering "their area." Id. at 32a-33a. Moreover, although the responding officers assured Zinman that their report would include the identifying information of his assailants, their report failed to include such information. Id. at 33a. Compounding matters further, their report failed to even mention Zinman's broken camera or selfie stick. Id.; see also Appendix D (Police Report; 61a).

The next day, on January 19th, 2021, Zinman traveled to the Second District

Metropolitan Police Department ("MPD") and presented video evidence to Sergeant Robinson and Detective J. Ellis showing a female shoving a bullhorn into Zinman's chest as well as a male grabbing Zinman's camera. See Appendix C (Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgement; App. 25a-59a) at 33a.Notwithstanding, Sergeant Robinson and Detective Ellis informed Zinman that such evidence did not constitute assault because the female was apparently just "standing her ground," and the male apparently intended to grab Zinman's camera and not his person, despite the fact that his camera was clearly attached to his person. Id. Additionally, when Zinman asked Sergeant Robinson why the officers' report stated that he was unsure of how he hurt his hand and didn't mention a single word about his broken camera, Sergeant Robinson outright lied by stating "you never told me nothing about the broken camera," and further that Zinman had allegedly stated "I don't know" when asked how he had gotten the cut on his hand. Id. Notably, however, BWC footage disclosed by the MPD clearly shows that, not only did Sergeant Robinson never even ask how Zinman's hand had gotten cut, but Zinman never stated that he didn't know how his hand had been cut either; rather, he stated that "I don't even know why ... they did that." Id. Moreover, even if Zinman had never directly told Sergeant Robinson that his camera had been destroyed, Sergeant Robinson clearly acknowledged that he knew "the selfie stick was broken." Id. Nevertheless, as noted above, the officers report failed to mention a single word about Zinman's broken selfie stick even though BWC footage clearly shows Officer Hussain-the officer who actually wrote the report-clearly stating that "your stuff got broken, you got a cut on your hand, I don't blame you for being emotionally distressed." *Id.* at 33a-34a.

Suspecting that he was being discriminated against for traveling to Washington D.C. from out of state, on January 22, 2021, Zinman submitted a complaint against Sergeant Robinson, Officer Hussain, as well as Detective Ellis with the Office of Police Complaints ("OPC"). Id. at 34a. Seeking to substantiate his suspicions and to potentially identify his assailants as well, on the same day, Zinman filed a FOIA request for the BWC "footage recorded by ... Sergeant Phillip Robinson, Officer Syed Hussain, as well a third unidentified black male officer ... on Tuesday, January 19th, 2021 at approximately 11:00 PM (CCN # 21008200)," in addition to "copies of all surveillance footage from the lobby of the Second District [MPD] recorded between the hours of 3 and 4 PM during [Zinman's] interaction with Sergeant Robinson and Detective J. Ellis on Wednesday, January 20th, 2021." Id. Nevertheless, on February 17, 2021, Zinman received a response from "FOIA Specialist," Ms. Tara Branch, denying his request for the body worn footage in which he sought. Id. According to Ms. Branch, because the footage in which he sought is part of an ongoing OPC investigation, "the release of this footage could interfere ... by revealing the direction and pace of the investigation ... lead to attempts to destroy or alter evidence, reveal information about potential witnesses who could then be subjected to intimidation as part of an effort to frustrate future investigative activities, or could place witnesses in danger." See Appendix E (Letter from Ms. Tara Branch; App. 62a-63a) at 62a. On that

basis, Ms. Branch asserted that the body worn camera footage in which Zinman sought is exempt from disclosure pursuant to D.C. Code §2-534(3)(A)(iii). *Id*.

On March 10, 2021, Zinman brought this action seeking to compel Defendant, the District of Columbia ("the District") to release all records requested in Zinman's January 22, 2021 FOIA request (Request Number 2021-BWC-00118)." *See* Appendix C (Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgement; App. 25a-59a) at 34a. Additionally, Zinman sought to recover his costs associated with the filing and litigation of this action pursuant to D.C. Code § 2-537(c). *Id.* Notably, however, during the pendency of this action, MPD eventually released various BWC video clips responsive to Zinman's January 21, 2021, request for records on July 2, 2021, August 9, 2021, and September 3, 2021, albeit MPD redacted images of and statements made by various individuals including MPD officers as well as witnesses pursuant to the personal privacy exemption, D.C. Code § 2-534(a)(2), *Id.* at 35a.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This Court reviews de novo the trial court's grant of summary judgment in a FOIA case. *See* Padou v. District of Columbia, 29 A.3d 973, 980 (D.C. 2011) (citation omitted). "Summary judgment is appropriate only when the record, including pleadings together with affidavits, indicates that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Id.* (citations, internal quotation marks, and ellipsis omitted). "In the FOIA context[,] this

requires that [this Court] ascertain whether the agency has sustained its burden of demonstrating the documents requested are exempt from disclosure under the FOIA." *See Multi Ag Media LLC v. Dep't of Agric.*, 380 U.S. App. D.C. 1, 4, 515 F.3d 1224, 1227 (2008) (citations, internal quotation marks, brackets, and ellipsis omitted). This is a question of law. *See* e.g., *Wemhoff v. District of Columbia*, 887 A.2d 1004, 1008 (D.C. 2005); *Horowitz v. Peace Corps*, 368 U.S. App. D.C. 192, 199, 428 F.3d 271, 278 (2005).

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Judge Epstein erred by granting summary judgement in favor of the District. In doing so, Judge Epstein erred by holding that the individuals depicted in the BWC footage at issue have cognizable privacy interests in the nondisclosure of such footage, and further that those interests outweigh the public's interest in the full unredacted disclosure of such footage. Moreover, Judge Epstein erred by holding that Zinman's request for declaratory relief was moot. Lastly, Judge Epstein erred by holding that Zinman wasn't entitled to be awarded his costs incurred in litigating this matter.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. <u>ALL PERSONS ARE ENTITLED TO FULL AND COMPLETE INFORMATION</u> <u>REGARDING THE OFFICIAL ACTS OF PUBLIC OFFICIALS AND EMPLOYEES</u>

Although the D.C. FOIA declares it to be "[t]he public policy of the District of Columbia ... that all persons are entitled to full and complete information regarding the affairs of government and the official acts of those who represent them as public officials and employees," D.C. Code § 2-531, "[i]nformation of a personal nature where the public disclosure thereof would constitute a clearly unwarranted invasion of personal privacy" is nevertheless exempt from disclosure, D.C. Code § 2-534(a)(2). Similarly, "[i]nvestigatory records compiled for law-enforcement purposes, including the records of Council investigations and investigations conducted by the Office of Police Complaints" are also exempt from disclosure, "but only to the extent that the production of such records would ... [c]onstitute an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy." *See* D.C. Code § 2-534(a)(3)(C). Notwithstanding, the provisions of D.C. FOIA giving citizens the right of access are to be generously construed, while the statutory exemptions from disclosure are to be narrowly construed, with ambiguities resolved in favor of disclosure. *See* e.g., *Riley v. Fenty*, 7 A.3d 1014, 1018 (D.C. 2010); *Fraternal Order of Police v. D.C.*, 79 A.3d 347, 354 (D.C. 2013).

#### A. Judge Epstein erred by concluding that MPD officers and the other individuals depicted in the BWC footage at issue have a cognizable privacy interest in the nondisclosure of such footage.

The privacy interest that is protected under D.C. Code § 2-534(a)(2) (i.e., the personal privacy exemption) encompasses the individual's control of information concerning his or her person, including his or her name and home address. *See* D.C. Code § 2-534(a)(2); *see also Padou*, 29 A.3d at 982. Likewise, D.C. Code § 2-534(a)(2); *see also Padou*, 29 A.3d at 982. Likewise, D.C. Code § 2-534(a)(3)(C) (i.e., the law enforcement personal privacy exemption) exempts from disclosure materials compiled for law enforcement purposes when disclosure could reasonably be expected to constitute an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy. *See* D.C. Code § 2-534(a)(3)(C). To determine whether either exemption applies, courts

first "balance the privacy interests that would be compromised by disclosure against the public interest in release of the requested information." *See Davis v. U.S. DOJ*, 968 F.2d 1276, 1281 (D.C. Cir. 1992). "On one side of the scale, the exemption protects the privacy interests of all persons mentioned in law enforcement records, whether they be investigators, suspects, witnesses, or informants." *See Sussman v. U.S. Marshals Serv.*, 494 F.3d 1106, 1115 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (citing *Schrecker v. U.S. DOJ*, 349 F.3d 657, 661 (D.C. Cir. 2003)). On the other side, "the only public interest relevant for purposes of [the exemption] is one that focuses on the citizens' right to be informed about what their government is up to." *See Davis*, 968 F.2d at 1282 (quoting *U.S. DOJ v. Reporters Comm. for Freedom of the Press*, 489 U.S. 749, 773 (1989)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

According to Judge Epstein, "[u]nder DC FOIA, 'MPD employees have a cognizable privacy interest in the nondisclosure of their names and identifying information." *See* Appendix A (Order; 1a-12a) at 8a (quoting *District of Columbia v. Fraternal Order of Police*, 75 A. 3d 259, 267 (D.C. 2013). Notably, however, *District of Columbia v. Fraternal Order Police*, 75 A.3d 259 (D.C. 2013) concerned MPD "employees who submitted questions, comments, or concerns to the Chief of Police through an email account. *Id.* at 262. As such, this Court did not hold that police officers generally have a privacy interest in the nondisclosure of their names and identifying information, but rather that in the context of that case, the MPD employees at issue had a heightened privacy interest because they "relied on the government's

pledge of confidentiality" in sending the emails. *Id.* at 267. Notwithstanding, even in that case, the District "disclosed the content of the emails to the Fraternal Order of Police, Metropolitan Police Department Labor Committee ("FOP"), but redacted the authors' identifying information," *id.* at 262, whereas in the case at bar, the District refused to disclose even the contents of the statements made by the MPD officers in the course of their official duties in a public place, even though those officers did not rely on any pledge of confidentiality in making such statements.

Additionally, although Judge Epstein correctly noted that, in certain circumstances, "[t]he privacy interest that is entitled to protection encompasses the individual's control of information concerning his or her person, including names, addresses, and other identifying information," *id.* (internal quotations omitted) (quoting *Fraternal Order of Police v. District of Columbia*, 124 A.3d 69, 77 (D.C. 2015)), for the reasons set forth in the following sections, his reliance upon *Horvath v. U.S. Secret Service*, 419 F. Supp.3d 40 (D.D.C. 2019) and *Skinner v. U.S. Department of Justice*, 744 F. Supp.2d 185 (D.D.C. 2010) was nevertheless misplaced.

# i. <u>The privacy interest recognized by the Horvath Court is inapplicable to the</u> <u>case at bar.</u>

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