#### No. 21-CV-894

## IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEAIR Sceived 09/12/2022 04:52 PM Filed 09/12/2022 04:52 PM

### COREY J. ZINMAN, APPELLANT,

V.

# DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, APPELLEE.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

#### **BRIEF FOR APPELLEE**

KARL A. RACINE Attorney General for the District of Columbia

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK Principal Deputy Solicitor General

GRAHAM E. PHILLIPS Deputy Solicitor General

\*BRYAN J. LEITCH Assistant Attorney General Office of the Solicitor General

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

Zinman's labored attempt (Br. 13-21) to distinguish *Horvath* and *Skinner* also fails, as both cases recognize the privacy interests of law-enforcement officers in "information by which those individuals could be identified." *Skinner v. U.S. Dep't of Justice*, 744 F. Supp. 2d 185, 208 (D.D.C. 2010); *see Horvath v. U.S. Secret Serv.*, 419 F. Supp. 3d 40, 48 (D.D.C. 2019) (same for "information about facts and events that would identify" federal agents (internal quotation marks omitted)).

2. No cognizable public interest would be advanced by the incremental disclosure of the officers' images.

Because the officers have a protectable privacy interest in their images, Zinman must show that disclosing such information would contribute to public understanding of the government, and that this public interest outweighs any privacy concerns. *FOP 2015 II*, 124 A.3d at 77. He cannot make either showing.

In assessing whether disclosure would contribute to public understanding of government conduct, the inquiry "focuses 'not on the general public interest in the subject matter of the FOIA request, but rather on the *incremental value* of the specific information being withheld." *Niskanen Ctr. v. FERC*, 20 F.4th 787, 791 (D.C. Cir. 2021) (quoting *Schrecker v. DOJ*, 349 F.3d 657, 661 (D.C. Cir. 2003) (emphasis added)); *see FOP 2013*, 75 A.3d at 268-69 (same). Zinman must explain, then, how unblurring the officers' images will advance public understanding of the government's actions beyond what the redacted videos already show.

He fails entirely to do so. Other than a few conclusory assertions (Br. 33) about disclosure being "consistent" with the Bodycam Act, Zinman's brief is devoid of "developed argumentation." *Comford*, 947 A.2d at 1188. And he has no good argument to make anyways, for the incremental value of disclosing the officers' images is nil. Seeing their faces would not improve police "accountability" or "performance," much less the "administration of justice" (Br. 33), since the disclosed videos already show that these are MPD officers, and so the public can

already draw its own conclusions about MPD's operations and activities. *FOP 2013*, 75 A.3d at 266-69. Nor would disclosing the officers' images ferret out "preferential treatment from government investigators" (Br. 30), as discovering such treatment does not depend on what the officers look like. *See Wood*, 432 F.3d at 89 (noting that any "bias in the investigation" would surface "in the actions taken or not taken by the FBI," not the investigators' identities). Also, because the redactions do not obscure the recorded factual events, showing the officers' faces will not make the videos "more accurate" or "transparent" (Br. 33) in any sense relevant to FOIA.

No balancing of interests is therefore needed. Because Zinman has not shown that disclosing the officers' images would contribute to public understanding of the government's actions, the officers' privacy interests must prevail. *Horowitz*, 428 F.3d at 278. But even if unblurring the officers' faces would serve some marginal interest, Zinman offers no reason to believe that such a vanishingly slight benefit could outweigh the officers' interest in staying out of the public eye. *See Favish*, 541 U.S. at 166 (noting the privacy interest in "refuge from a sensation-seeking culture"). In short, Zinman received everything FOIA entitled him to.

### II. The Superior Court Correctly Found That Zinman's Challenge To MPD's Invocation Of The Ongoing-Investigation Exemption Was Moot.

### A. Zinman's challenge to the initial withholding of bodycam footage is moot now that he has all nonexempt footage.

As the Superior Court held, Zinman's attack on MPD's initial invocation of the ongoing-investigation exemption, D.C. Code § 2-534(a)(3)(A)(iii), is moot. App. 11. MPD is no longer invoking that exemption, and Zinman has received all available, nonexempt records. He does not deny that his injunctive claim is moot. Yet he insists (Br. 34-39) that he still has a live claim for declaratory relief against MPD's initial withholding of the now-released videos. Zinman is wrong. Declaratory-relief claims under FOIA are "moot once the trial court determines that the District has adequately and completely complied with the FOIA request." *FOP* 2015 I, 113 A.3d at 199; see Perry v. Block, 684 F.2d 121, 125 (D.C. Cir. 1982).

That is precisely the situation here. Zinman's complaint demanded the release of "public records responsive to Zinman's FOIA request," and it asked the Superior Court to "[d]eclare" that "the District violated the DC FOIA" by initially withholding bodycam video under the ongoing-investigation exemption. App. 23-24. But as Zinman admits (Br. 36), once OPC's investigation ended, MPD released "video clips responsive to Zinman's request" with limited redactions. Because Zinman has received the nonexempt records he requested, his claim is now moot.

Zinman denies little of this. He instead suggests (Br. 36) that the Court should ignore mootness to decide a "significant" and "unresolved" issue about the permissibility of "blanket exemptions." Yet that issue is not presented here, and its purported significance is all the more reason not to decide it in an advisory opinion. In re Wyler, 46 A.3d 396, 400 (D.C. 2012) (stressing that "an advisory opinion" is "especially" improper "on important questions" (internal quotation marks omitted)). Far from treating the ongoing-investigation provision as a "blanket exemption" (Br. 36), MPD reasonably explained to Zinman that the requested bodycam footage was "part of an ongoing" OPC investigation, and that its release "could interfere with" OPC's process by "revealing the direction and pace of the investigation" as well as "information about potential witnesses," App. 62. Nothing more was required. See Fraternal Order of Police v. District of Columbia, 82 A.3d 803, 815 (D.C. 2014) (requiring "a rational link between the nature of the document and the alleged likely interference" (internal quotation marks omitted)).

Contrary to Zinman's assertions (Br. 34-35, 38-39), his claim is moot not because of any "voluntary cessation," but because effective relief is no longer available. *See FOP 2015 I*, 113 A.3d at 199; *Perry*, 684 F.2d at 125. Regardless of what happens in this case, the District cannot reinvoke the ongoing-investigation exemption to resume its withholding of Zinman's requested materials now that they are disclosed. The voluntary-cessation doctrine simply does not apply in such

circumstances. *See Guedes v. Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms & Explosives*, 920 F.3d 1, 15-16 (D.C. Cir. 2019) (rejecting similar argument where defendants lacked "the unilateral power" to "cease and restart the conduct complained of").

Nor can Zinman escape mootness under Payne Enterprises, Inc. v. United States, 837 F.2d 486 (D.C. Cir. 1988). Unlike here, that case involved a repeat FOIA requester challenging the Air Force's concededly "impermissible practice" of citing inapplicable exemptions to cause "unjustified delay" and inflict "continuing injury." Id. at 487-91 & n.8. The court acknowledged that disclosure generally moots challenges to the "initial refusal to disclose requested information." Id. at 491. Yet it fashioned a narrow exception for cases where "an agency policy or practice will impair the party's lawful access to information in the future." *Id.* For this exception to apply, then, "repeat requesters" must show that they "will suffer continuing injury" from a "policy or practice" that violates FOIA—otherwise, "disclosure of the requested information will moot a FOIA claim." Khine v. U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., 943 F.3d 959, 965 (D.C. Cir. 2019) (internal quotation marks omitted); see Porup v. CIA, 997 F.3d 1224, 1233 (D.C. Cir. 2021) (same).

This case does not fit the *Payne Enterprises* exception. Zinman has not shown that he is a repeat FOIA requester, and he has not challenged any policy or practice of the District, much less one that is improper or that inflicts continuing injury. *See Khine*, 943 F.3d at 965-66. Rather, Zinman challenged MPD's initial invocation of

the ongoing-investigation exemption in this single case, App. 18-22, and one allegedly improper action does not a pattern or practice make, *see Porup*, 997 F.3d at 1233 (holding that "two FOIA response letters," even if "fallacious," did not "show that the CIA has been following a *practice*"). While he now asserts (Br. 39) for the first time on appeal that he is contesting a "practice of unjustified delay," Zinman offers no evidence of such a practice and he cannot, in any event, belatedly amend his complaint on appeal to avoid mootness, *see J.T. v. District of Columbia*, 983 F.3d 516, 527 (D.C. Cir. 2020) (rejecting "the assertion of broader injuries than those alleged in a complaint" when "evaluating mootness").

## B. Zinman's challenge to challenge to the initial withholding of bodycam footage is not capable of repetition yet evading review.

As a last-ditch effort to avoid mootness, Zinman argues (Br. 34-38) that his claim for declaratory relief is capable of repetition, yet evading review. Not so. To invoke this narrow exception, Zinman must show that (1) invocations of the ongoing-investigations exemption are by their nature too short in duration "to be fully litigated," and (2) there is a "reasonable expectation" that Zinman himself "will be subject to the same action again." *Spencer v. Kemna*, 523 U.S. 1, 17 (1998) (internal quotation marks, brackets omitted). Zinman cannot satisfy either element.

1. Invocations of the ongoing-investigation exemption are not so inherently short as to evade review.

Zinman has not shown that invocations of the ongoing-investigation exemption are "always so short as to evade review." *Id.* at 18. Under this element, "the challenged activity" must be "by its very nature short in duration, so that it could not, or probably would not, be able to be adjudicated while fully live." *Pharmachemie B.V. v. Barr Lab'ys, Inc.*, 276 F.3d 627, 633 (D.C. Cir. 2002) (internal quotation marks omitted).

Rather than make that showing, Zinman asserts (Br. 35-36) that MPD's reliance on the exemption in this case was "too short to be fully litigated." But that just explains why Zinman's claim is moot; it does not show that similar claims will always or even typically evade review. Southern Co. Servs. v. FERC, 416 F.3d 39, 43-44 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (holding that "two instances" of mootness "do not suffice"). And nothing in *Gulf Oil Corporation v. Brock* suggests otherwise. That the FOIA claim there was moot given the eleven-year history of that case, 778 F.2d 834, 839 (D.C. Cir. 1985), hardly supports Zinman's inverse assertion that the issues here will evade review simply because his FOIA dispute was short-lived, see Conyers v. Reagan, 765 F.2d 1124, 1128 (D.C. Cir. 1985) (finding case moot even if "particular" activity complained of ended before there was an opportunity to fully litigate"). Otherwise, the "evading review" element would be meaningless, as this exception is only invoked in cases where the claim at issue expired before litigation ended.

Equally meritless is Zinman's contention (Br. 36) that mooting his claim will let the District "avoid review" of this issue in future cases "by simply closing an OPC investigation after litigation has been commenced." Given OPC's independent investigatory authority, the District cannot simply close an OPC investigation to cut off FOIA litigation. *See* D.C. Code § 5-1102 (authorizing OPC to conduct "independent review of citizen complaints"). Regardless, Zinman offers no reason to believe the District would engage in such antics, especially since it did not do so here: the record shows that OPC ended its investigation *before* the District was even served with this lawsuit, App. 2, 65. Zinman's failure on this issue is dispositive.

2. Zinman has not shown any reasonable expectation that the same underlying events will recur.

Zinman's theory fails for the independent reason that he has not shown he "will be subject to the same action again." *Spencer*, 523 U.S. at 17. A "theoretical possibility" of repetition is not enough—there must be "a 'reasonable expectation' or 'demonstrated probability" of recurrence. *Senate Permanent Subcomm. on Investigations v. Ferrer*, 856 F.3d 1080, 1088 (D.C. Cir. 2017). Because this inquiry turns on the precise conduct alleged in the complaint, "a legal controversy so sharply focused on a unique factual context will rarely present a reasonable expectation that the same complaining party would be subjected to the same actions again." *J.T.*, 983 F.3d at 524 (internal quotation marks, brackets omitted).

Here, Zinman's complaint challenged MPD's withholding of footage under the ongoing-investigation exemption. App. 18-22. It alleged no broader theory of injury, and it sought no relief beyond disclosure of the now-released records and a declaration of wrongdoing. *See* App. 23-24. Such a fact-specific controversy is exceedingly unlikely to recur, and Zinman offers no reason to conclude otherwise.

In fact, Zinman admits (Br. 37-38) that recurrence is "hardly demonstrably probable." The most he can say is that MPD might invoke the ongoing-investigation exemption again "if Zinman ever did" submit another "FOIA request for BWC footage after filing an OPC complaint." But that attenuated chain of events barely suggests a theoretical possibility of recurrence, much less a reasonable expectation. See Ferrer, 856 F.3d at 1088. By his own account, Zinman's claim cannot arise again unless, among other things, he travels to the District again, he is involved in a situation that warrants police intervention again, he complains to OPC again, and he submits a FOIA request again. Yet Zinman has not even alleged an intention of visiting the District again, let alone submitting another FOIA request. See Pharmachemie, 276 F.3d at 633 (mooting case where "several contingencies would have to occur for the same issues to arise again").

Neither of Zinman's cited cases is apposite. In *Honig v. Doe*, a disabled student's challenge to his suspension was likely to recur because his disability made it almost certain that he would engage in similar "misconduct" and "be subjected to

the same unilateral school action for which he initially sought relief." 484 U.S. 305, 320-21 (1988). Recurrence was likely in *NBC v. CWA* for similar reasons: NBC had an institutional interest in reporting on public political events (which it routinely protected through emergency injunctions), and CWA regularly held such public political events (from which it was likely to exclude NBC in the future). 860 F.2d 1022, 1022-24 (11th Cir. 1988). Nothing about Zinman's personal characteristics or future intentions suggests any similar sort of likelihood of recurrence.

## III. The Superior Court Soundly Exercised Its Discretion In Denying Zinman's Request For Costs.

Trial courts can award costs only if FOIA plaintiffs are *eligible* for costs, they are *entitled* to costs, and the costs are *reasonable*. *Vining v. District of Columbia*, 198 A.3d 738, 745 (D.C. 2018). Zinman did not make these showings below, and he has not shown on appeal that the denial of his request was an abuse of discretion. Zinman in fact ignores the deferential standard of review for this issue and argues the matter as if it were reviewed de novo. That is wrong. This Court should affirm.

# A. Zinman has not shown that the Superior Court abused its discretion in deeming him ineligible for costs.

To be eligible for costs, FOIA plaintiffs must establish that they "prevail[ed] in whole or in part in [their] suit." D.C. Code § 2-537(c). This requires at the very least a "causal nexus" between the plaintiff's FOIA suit and the disclosure of records. FOP 2015 I, 113 A.3d at 200-01. It is not enough for plaintiffs to show

that their pre-litigation FOIA request played a role in prompting certain disclosures. *See id.* They must instead prove as a factual matter that their "*lawsuit* caused" "the production of documents." *Id.* at 200 (emphasis added).

Zinman did not attempt to show a causal nexus below, App. 52-59, and on appeal, he suggests that no such requirement exists, arguing that "the proper inquiry was not whether the District produced the videos *because* Zinman filed suit," Br. 40 (emphasis added). That is incorrect. *See FOP 2015 I*, 113 A.3d at 200-01. Zinman's failure to argue this issue properly is reason enough to affirm. *Charmed, LLC v. D.C. Dep't of Health*, 263 A.3d 1028, 1034 n.7 (D.C. 2021) (declining to address issues not raised below or adequately briefed on appeal).

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